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1. LICENSEE/LOCATION INSPECTED:
Schellinger Construction Co., Inc.
P.O. Box 39
250 Tmcl< Route
Columbia Falls, MT59912 ^ JL

Locations Inspected; 0C9Ov^
REPORT NO: 030-37888/2016-001

2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission - Region IV
1600 East Lamar Boulevard

Arlington. Texas 76011-4511

3. DOCKET NUMBER

030-37888

4. LICENSE NUMBER

25-29318-01

5. DATES OF INSPECTION

^ggroofvj
LICENSEE:

Theinspection wasan examination oftheactivities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety andtocompliance with theNi,iclear
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulattons and the conditions of your license. The Inspection consisted of selective examinations of
procedures and representative records, Interviews withpersonnel, and obsen/ations by the inspector. The inspectionfindings are as follows:

1. Based on the inspection findings, no violations were IdentHied.

2. Previous violalion(s) dosed.

3. The violations(s).spedfically described to you by the inspector as non<ited violations,are not being cited because they were self-
identified. non-repetitive, and corrective actionwas or Is beingtaken, and the remaining criteria inthe NRC Enforcement Policy to
exercise discretion, were satisfied.

Non-Cited Violation(s)was/were discussed involving the following requirement(s) and Con-ectiveAction(s):

4. During this inspection certain of your activities,as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRCrequirements and are t
cited. This fomi is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to posting Inaccordance with 10 CFR 19.11.

LICENSEE'S

REPRESENTATIVE

NRC INSPECTOR

BRANCH CHIEF

Licensee's Statement of Corrective Actions for Item 4, above.
I hereby state that within 30 days, the actions described by me to the inspector willbe taken to con^ the violations identified. This statement o
corrective actions ismade in accordance with the requirements of10 CFR 2.201 (con^ve steps already taken, corrective steps which will be t^en,
date whenfull compliance will be achieved). I understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.

Title Printed Name Signature Date

Janine F. Katanic, PhD, CHP

Brooi^e G. Smith (3loI6>
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